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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Reproductions of the original drawings of the elevations of the First Church of 
Christ Scientist show that the structure has not been altered significantly since it 
was completed in 1928. On the exterior, the church has a Greek Cross plan.

The east entrance facade is located on Rosalind Street, overlooking Lake Eola. The 
facade has a shallow hexastyle Roman Doric portico. The structure rests on a wedge-shaped 
stylobate to accommodate it to the gently sloping building site. The columns support only 
a wall cornice, while the open-bed pediment above rests on pedestals supported by massive 
antae flanking the portico.

Within the tympanum of the pediment is a lunette. There are square casement windows 
in the mezzanine level. These fill the wall bays, forming a continuous band across the 
facade.

There are three entrance doors in the east facade. All feature pilastered surrounds 
and pediments, and transom lights. The center door has a triangular pediment, while the 
flanking doors have segmental pediments.

The wall cornice, antae, pedestals and open-bed pediments are repeated on the north 
and south elevations. In each of the tympanums, however, is a bull's-eye window instead 
of a lunette. The wall cornice terminates at the inner edges of the antae. In the 
intervening wall surface is a tripartite window with round arches of equal height and 
width. Slender twisted columns separate the windows. Beneath the windows, on both 
elevations,is a balcony supported by brackets. Beneath these are square casement windows.

The only distinctive architectural feature on the rear of the church is a repetition 
of the open-bed pediment which springs directly from the wall surface rather than being 
supported by pedestals and antae. .......

On the interior, the sanctuary reflects the Greek Cross plan of the exterior. 
Although the floor space of the sanctuary is basically rectangular, the ceiling is vaulted. 
The system consists of a central domical vault and four short arms. The vault at the 
center of the crossing is not a true dome but a coved vault, whose four curved surfaces 
rise to an apex. The arms have semicircular vaults. Three of these are of the same 
lengthy, but the one extending west—over the speaker's platform—is considerably shorter, 
forming only a shallow aedicule. The vaulting system is supported visually by a series 
of classical entablatures which rest on paneled pilasters.

The main seating areas for the congregation form an elliptical space around the 
speaker's platform. The flanking sections of this ampitheater embrace the two main 
stairwells which connect the sanctuary on the mezzanine with the foyer or narthex on the 
ground floor. To the rear or east side of the sanctuary, beneath the lunette, is a low 
balcony with additional seats. Access to the balcony is gained by stairways at either 
side of it.

None of the present liturgical furniture, icons, or pictorial representations are 
original features. Among the larger, non-portable religious images now found in the 
sanctuary are: the central windows on the north and south representing the "Nativity" and 
the "Resurrection" in stained glass, the murals flanking the speaker's platform showing 
the "Entry into Jerusalem" and the "Pentecost". Finally, in the apex of the domical vault 
is a tondo representing Christ as the "Pantocrator", or "Judge of Mankind".

(see continuation sheet)
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On the exterior of the "building, the copper dome, vhich had been painted silver, 
vas painted gold and a golden colored cross placed atop it. A sign bearing the 
present name of the church has been placed in the frieze above the columns of the 
main facade to cover the name, First Church of Christ Scientist, vhich had been 
cast permanently into the concrete surface.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The former First Church of Christ Scientist in Orlando, Florida, reflects the 
transition of the community from a small agriculturally based population center to an urban 
center with nationally oriented economic aspirations. Furthermore, the church represents 
the adaptation of a readily identifiable type of ecclesiastical architecture to the 
non-liturgical activities of the local Christian Science congregation.

In the 1880's and 1890's, Orlando was a small accretion of residential, commercial, 
and public structures, dependent upon citrus and vegetable farming. The community was 
served by the South Florida Railroad which provided the means for shipping locally 
produced products to northern markets.^ During the period 1914 to 1926, the community 
grew rapidly as a result of intense land speculation in Florida. The church was one of 
a nucleus of buildings, e.g., banks, hotels, department stores, established inthe rapidly 
expanding urban center. This growth peaked in 1926 and did not resume substantially until 
the 1960's. Reinvigoration of the local economy was brought about by the development of 
large tourist recreation and entertainment facilities such as Disney World and Sea World.2

A Christian Science congregation was first established in Orlando about 1917. They had 
no building reserved exclusively for the services of the congregation at that time, but 
met at the Lucerne Theater on Court Street. 3 In 1925, the congregation commissioned the 
architect, George Foote Dunham (1876-1949) to design a building for their use. Dunham, 
himself a Christian Scientist, was born in Burlington, Iowa, and had studied architecture 
at the Armour Institute (now Illinois Institute of Technology) from which he was graduated 
in 1908. He spent the larger part of his career in Portland, Oregon. Before coming to 
Florida he had designed several Christian Science churches: two in Oregon, two in the 
state of Washington, one in Missouri, and one in British Columbia, Canada. 4

The First Church of Christ Scientist appears to have been modeled after the Pantheon 
in Rome, constructed 120-124 A.D.^, and the Law Library at Columbia University in New York 
City, designed in 1893 by Charles F. McKim (1847-1909). 6 The style of the church is 
basically Neo-classical Revival, whose influence was felt nation-wide through the designs 
produced by the New York based architectural firm of McKim, Mead, and White. The style had 
its greatest impact on American architecture from the late 1890's to about 1920.^

The church is volumetric and plastic in design after the manner of Roman architecture, 
rather than composed of the logical series of verticals and horizontals that characterizes 
Greek temple architecture. The dome and the arch, virtually unknown in classical Greece 
but employed often by the Romans, form essential roles in Dunham's design.

The relationship between the design of the church and Christian Science worship are 
merely fortuitous. Christian Science practice emphasizes study and self-development 
rather than formal liturgy. The large size of the structure is due to the large

(See continuation sheet)
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congregation that existed in Orlando in the 1920's. There were four hundred members 
when construction on the church began. One half of the cost was provided by the local 
congregation, and the remainder of the sum was donated by the mother church in Boston."

In 19T5 the Christian Scientist congregation abandoned the church on Rosalind 
Avenue, and a year later it was acquired by the congregation of St. George Orthodox 
Church. The congregation was formed in 19^9 by those members of the Orthodox faith 
in the Orlando area who wished an independent organization to serve their communal 
and religious needs. The congregation first held services in the Maitland Bank in 
Maitland, Florida, a community just north of Orlando. After making use of several 
temporary facilities, the congregation moved to its present home in July, 1976.

The former Church of Christ Scientist suited the needs of the Orthodox congre­ 
gation without requiring extensive alterations to the building. The architecture of 
the church lends itself to the liturgical needs of the Orthodox Christian congregations 
The main facade of the church is reminiscent of Orthodox basilicas in Europe. The 
alterations made to the church, therefore, have not significantly changed the char­ 
acter of the building.9

Phillip A. Werndli: Historical Architectural and Archaeological Survey of 
Orlando, Florida, 12-18.

2ibid.

3 Eve Bacon, Orlando, a Centennial History, vol. 1, 292.

Henry Whitney, Dictionary of American Architects, 183-^. 

^Banister Fletcher, A History of Architecture on the Comparative Method.
s
Francesco Passanti, "The Design of Columbia in the 1890's, McKim and His Client." 

'Marcus Whiffen, American Architecture Since 1780, 169.
o
Telephone conversation with Mary VanBrockle, member of the congregation, First 

Church of Christ Scientist, Orlando, Florida.

%amatie, Father John E., Letter to Carl Shiver, September lU, 1979.
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Statement of Significance (use continuation sheet if necessary)

The former First Church of Christ Scientist in Orlando, 
Florida, reflects the transition of the community from a small 
agriculturally based population center to an urban center with 
nationally oriented economic aspirations. Furthermore, the 
church represents the adaptation of a readily identifiable type 
of ecclesiastical architecture to the non-liturgical activities 
of the local Christian Science congregation.

In the 1880's and 1890's, Orlando was a small accretion 
of residential, commercial, and public structures, dependent 
upon citrus and vegetable farming. The community was served 
by the South Florida Railroad which provided the means for 
shipping locally produced products to northern markets.! 
During the period 1914 to 1926, the community grew rapidly as a 
result of intense land speculation in Florida. The church was 
one of a nucleus of buildings, e.g., banks, hotels, department 
stores, establishing the rapidly expanding urban center. This 

• growth peaked in 1926 and did not resume substantially until 
the 1960's. Reinvigoration of the local economy was brought 
about by the development of large tourist recreation and enter­ 
tainment facilities such as Disney World and Sea World.2

Science ^i Church of Christ congregation was first established in 
Orlando about 1917. They had no building reserved exclusively 
for the services of the congregation at that time, but met at 
the Lucerne Theater on Court Street. 3 In 1925, the congrega­ 
tion commissioned the architect, George Foote Dunham (1876- 
1949) to design a building for their use. Dunham, himself a 
Christian Scientist, was born in Burlington, Iowa , and had 
studied architecture at the Armour Institute (now Illinois 
Institute of Technology) from which he was graduated in 1908. 
He spent the larger part of his career in Portland, Oregon. 
Before coming to Florida he had designed several Christian 
Science churches: two in Oregon, two in the state of Washington 
one in Missouri, and one in British Columbia, Canada.

The First Church of Christ Scientist appears to have been 
modeled after the Pantheon in Rome, constructed 120-124 A.D., 
and the Law Library at Columbia University in Newr York City, 
designed in 1893 by Charles F. McKim (1847-1909).# The style 
of the church is basically Neo-Classical Revival, whose influ­ 
ence was felt nation-wide through the designs produced by the 
New York based architectural firm of McKim, Mead, and White. 
The style had its greatest impact on American architecture from 
the late 1890's to about 1920. 7

The church is volumetric and plastic in design after the 
manner of Roman architecture, rather than composed of the 
logical series of verticals and horizontals that characterizes 
Greek temple architecture. The dome and the arch, virtually
unknown in classical Greece but employed often by the Romans,

F ' 7 911= =
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form essential roles in Dunham's design.

The relationship between the design of the church and Christian 
Science worship are merely fortuitous. Christian Science practice 
emphasizes study and self-development rather than formal liturgy. 
The large size of the structure is due to the large congregation that 
existed in Orlando in the 1920's. There were four hundred members 
when construction on the church began. One half of the cost was 
provided by the local congregation, and the remainder of the sum was 
donated by the mother church in Boston.^

(Continued on Page 2)

Iphillip A. Werndli: Historical Architectural and Archaeological 
Survey of Orlando, Florida, 12-18.

2 Ibid.

^Eve Bacon, Orlando, a Centennial History, vol. 1, 292.

^Henry Whitney, Dictionary of American Architects, 183-4.

^Banister Fletcher, A History of Architecture on the Comparative 
Method.

^Francesco Passanti, "The Design of Columbia in the 1890's, 
McKim and His Client."

^Marcus Whiffen, American Architecture Since 1780, 169.

^Telephone conversation with Mary VanBrockle, member of the 
congregation, First Church of Christ Scientist, Orlando, Florida.
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In 1975 the Christian Scientist congregation abandoned the church on Rosalind 
Avenue, and a year later it was acquired by the congregation of St. George Ortho­ 
dox Church. The congregation was formed in 1969 by those members of the Orthodox 
faith in the Orlando area who wished an independent organization to serve their 
communal and religious needs. The congregation first held services in the 
Maitland Bank in Maitland, Florida, a community just north of Orlando. After 
making use of several temporary facilities, the congregation moved to its present 
home in July, 1976.

The former Church of Christ Scientist suited the needs of the Orthodox 
congregation without requiring extensive alterations to the building. The 
architecture of the church lends itself to the liturgical needs of the Orthodox 
Christian congregations. The main facade of the church is reminiscent of Orthodox 
basilicas in Europe. The alterations made to the church, therefore, have not 
significantly changed the character of the building.9

Hamatie, Father John E., Letter to Carl Shiver, September 14, 1979.
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Reproductions of the original drawings of the elevations 
of the First Church of Christ Scientist show that the structure 
has not been altered significantly since it was completed in 
1928. On the exterior, the church has a Greek Cross plan.

The east entrance facade is located on Rosalind Street, 
overlooking Lake Eola. The facade has a shallow hexastyle 
Roman Doric portico. The structure rests on a wedge-shaped 
stylobate to accommodate it to the gently sloping building site. 
The cloumns support only a wall cornice, while the open-bed 
pediment above rests on pedestals supported by massive antae 
flanking the portico.

Within the tympanum of the pediment is a lunette. There 
are square casement windows in the mezzanine level. These fill 
the wall bays, forming a continuous band across the facade.

There are three entrance doors in the east facade. All 
feature pilastered surrounds and pediments, and transom lights. 
The center door has a triangular pediment, while the flanking 
doors have segmental pediments.

The wall cornice, antae, pedestals and open-bed pediments 
are repeated on the north and south elevations. In each of the 
tympanums, however, is a bull's-eye window instead of a lunette. 
The wall cornice terminates at the inner edges of the antae. 
In the intervening wall surface is a tripartite window with 
round arches of equal height and width. Slender twisted columns 
separate the windows. Beneath the windows, on both elevations, 
is a balcony supported by brackets. Beneath this are square 
casement windows.

The only distinctive architectural feature on the rear of 
the church is a repetition of the open-bed pediment which 
springs directly from the wall surface rather than being 
supported by pedestals and antae.

On the interior, the sanctuary reflects the Greek Cross 
plan of the exterior. Although the floor space of the 
sanctuary is basically rectangular, the ceiling is vaulted. 
The system consists of a central domical vault and four short 
arms. The vault at the center of the crossing is not a true 
dome but a coved vault, whose four curved surfaces rise to an 
apex. The arms have semicircular vaults. Three of these 
are of the same length, but the one extending west--over the 
speaker's platform--is considerably shorter, forming only a 
shallow aedicule. The vaulting system is supported visually 
by a series of classical entablatures which rest on paneled 
pilasters.



Verbal Boundary Description

All of lots C § D, Block 4 in Orlando, being described by 
Rosalind Avenue on the west, Washington Street on the 
north, the property lines of lots C § D on the west, and 
Central Boulevard on the south

Site Size (Approx. Acreage of Property). Less than one (1) 833= =
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The main seating areas for the congregation form an 
elliptical space around the speaker's platform. The flanking 
sections of this ampitheater embrace the two main stairwells 
which connect the sanctuary on the mezzanine with the foyer 
or narthex on the ground floor. To the rear or east side of 
the sanctuary, beneath the lunette, is a low balcony with 
additional seats. Access to the balcony is gained by stairways 
at either side of it.

None of the present liturgical furniture, icons, or 
pictorial representations are original features. Among the 
larger, non-portable religious images now found in the sanctuary 
are: the central windows on the north and south representing 
the "Nativity" and the "Resurrection" in stained glass, the 
murals flanking the speaker's platform showing the "Entry into 
Jerusalem" and the "Pentecost". Finally, in the apex of the 
domical vault is a tondo representing Christ as the "Pantocrator", 
or "Judge of Mankind".

The exterior of the building, the copper dome, which had been painted 
silver, was painted gold and a golden colored cross placed atop it. A sign 
bearing the present name of the church has been placed in the frieze above 
the columns of the main facade to cover the name, First Church of Christ 
Scientist, which had been cast permanently into the concrete surface.
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Neo-Classical Revival

872= = 

874= =

STYLE 964= =

PLAN TYPE
Greek Cross 966= =

EXTERIOR FABRIC(S) concrete 854= =

STRUCTURAL SYSTEM(S) reinforced concrete 856= =

FEATURE OF STRUCTURE (942):

PORCHES, VERANDAS, GALLERIES AND BALCONIES: Portico with colossal Roman Doric
columns on east elevation; balconies on north and
south elevations.________________________________942= =

FOUNDATION: concrete wall, continuous 942= =

ROOF TYPE: dome 942= =

SECONDARY ROOF STRUCTURE(S): gable 942= =

CHIMNEY LOCATION: 942= =

WINDOWTYPE: casement 942= =

MATERIALS (882): 

CHIMNEY: 882= =

ROOF SURFACING:
metal; terra cotta

882= =

ORNAMENT EXTERIOR: concrete 882= =

QUANTITATIVE DATA (950-960): 

NO. OF STORIES 2 950= =

NO. OF CHIMNEYS 

NO. OF DORMERS _

' 952 = =

954= =



OTHER NOTABLE FEATURES OF BUILDING (FREE TEXT) 

MAIN ENTRANCE: central

865= =

WINDOW PLACEMENT: regular, nine (9) bays 865= =

WINDOW SURROUNDS AND DECORATION: concret e arches and pediments

865= =

EXTERIOR ORNAMENT AND COLOR: Grey, classical details of cast concrete 

or cement compound__________________________________________ 

_________________________________._________________865= = 

INTERIOR COMMENTS' Classical details of cast plaster, stained glass 

windows, murals, liturgical furniture

____________________________________________________865= =

OTHER (SPECIFY):____________________________________________

___________________________________________________865= =

MAJOR ALTERATIONS (FREE TEXT): ____________________________________

857= =

876= =

SURROUNDINGS (CLASSIFICATION) commercial________________864= = 

RELATIONSHIP TO SURROUNDINGS (FREE TEXT): Entrance facade faces park 

surrounding Lake Eola 859= =


